Cues used by brood parasites and predators to locate nests

68

Paula Michelle Grieef

by

A thesis presented to the University of Manitoba in fulfilment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Master of Science

> Department of Zoology University of Manitoba Winnipeg, Manitoba

(c) Paula Michelle Grieef, 1995

▋┿▋

National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse disposition à la des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-612-13155-6

Canada

Michelle GRIEFF wla Name

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

$\infty | \infty$

SUBJECT TERM

Ô SUBJECT CODE

Subject Categories

THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

COMMUNICATIONS AND THE ARTS

Architecture	0729
Art History	0377
Cinema	0900
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	
Information Science	0723
Journalism	
Library Science	
Mass Communications	0708
Music	0413
Speech Communication	0459
Therefor	0465

EDUCATION

	0.01.0
General	.0515
Administration	.0514
Adult and Continuing	.0516
Agricultural	.0517
Art	0273
Art Bilingual and Multicultural Business Community College Curriculum and Instruction	0282
Business	0688
Community College	0275
Curriculum and Instruction	0727
Fordy (buildhood	0118
Finance Guidance and Counseling Health	0524
Financo	0277
Guidenes and Counceling	0510
Guidance and Counseiing	0,000
Health	.0680
riigner	.0/40
History of	.0520
Home Economics	.0278
Industria	.0521
Language and Literature Mathematics	0279
Mathematics	0280
Music	0522
Philosophy of	0998
Physical	0523
FIIYSIGGI	. 0323

Psychology Reading 0535 Religious 0527 Sociology of 0340 Special 0529 Teacher Training 0530 Technology 0710 Tests and Measurements 0288 Vactional 0747 Vocational0747

LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND LINGUISTICS

Language	
General	0479
Ancient	0220
Ancient	0207
Linguistics	.0270
Modern	.0291
Literature	
General	.0401
Classical	.0294
Comparative	.0295
Medieval	.0297
Modern	.0298
African	0316
American	0591
Asian	0305
Canadian (English)	0303
Canadian (English)	.0352
Canadian (French)	.0355
English	.0593
Germanic	.0311
Latin American	.0312
Middle Eastern	.0315
Romance	.0313
Slavic and East European	.0314

THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

Agriculture	0.470
General	.04/3
Agronomy Animal Culture and	.0285
Animal Culture and	
Nutrition	0475
Animal Pathology	0476
Animal Pathology Food Science and	. 047 0
Toda Science and	0250
Technology Forestry and Wildlife	0339
Forestry and Wildlife	.04/8
Plant Culture	04/9
Plant Pathology	.0480
Plant Physiology	0817
Plant Pathology Plant Physiology Range Management Wood Technology	0777
Wood Tochnology	0746
Pielem:	.0740
Biology	0204
General	0300
Anatomy	0287
Biostatistics	.0308
Botany	.0309
Cell	.0379
Ecology,	0329
Entomology	0353
Canadian Canadian	0240
Genetics	0307
Limnology	0/93
Microbiology	0410
Molecular	0307
Neuroscience	.0317
Oceanography	0416
Physiology	0433
Radiation	0821
Veterinary Science	0779
7l.	0470
Zoology	04/Z
Biophysics	070 /
General	0/86
Medical	0760
EARTH SCIENCES	

Biogeochemistry	0425
	0420
Geochemistry	0996
Geochemistry	0770

Hydrology Mineralogy Paleobotany03880411 0345 Paleoccology 0425 Paleoccology 0426 Paleoccology 0418 Paleozcology 0985 Palynology 0427 Physical Geography 0427 Physical Geography 0415 HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

0370

Geodesy

ain sciences	
General	0566
Audiology	.0300
Chemotherapy	0992
Dentistry	0547
Education	
Hospital Management	0/69
Hospital Management Human Development	0758
Immunology	0082
Medicine and Surgery	. 0564
Mental Health	0347
Nursing	
Nutrition	0570
	.05/0
Obstetrics and Gynecology .	
Obstetrics and Gynecology . Occupational Health and	
Therapy	0354
Ophthalmology	0381
Pathology	0571
Pharmacology	0419
Pharmacy	0572
ph	.03/2
Physical Therapy Public Health	.0382
Public Health	05/3
Radiology	.0574
Recreation	0575

PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND THEOLOGY Philosophy0422

Religion	
General	.0318
Biblical Studies	.0321
Cleray	.0319
History of	.0320
Clergy History of Philosophy of	.0322
Theology	.0469
SOCIAL SCIENCES	
American Studies	0000
	.0323
Anthropology	0004
Archaeology	.0324
Cultural	.0320
Physical Business Administration	.032/
General	.0310
Accounting	
Banking	.0//0
Management	.0454
Marketing Canadian Studies	.0338
Canadian Studies	.0385
Economics	
General	.0501
Agricultural	.0503
Commerce-Business	.0505
Finance	
History	.0509
Labor	.0510
_ Theory	.0511
Folklore	.0358
Geography	.0366
Gerontology	.0351
History	
General	.0578

Ancient	
Medieval Modern	0582
Black	0328
African Asia, Australia and Oceania	0331
Asia, Australia and Oceania	0332
Canadian European	0334
Latin American	0336
Middle Eastern	0333
United States	0337
nistory of Science	0382
History of Science aw Political Science	0070
'olitical Science General International Law and	0615
International Law and	A / 1 /
Relations Public Administration	0617
Recreation	0814
Recreation locial Work	0452
iociology	
General Criminology and Penology	0620
Demography	0938
Demography Ethnic and Racial Studies	0631
Individual and Family	~ ~ ~ ~ ~
Individual and Family Studies Industrial and Labor	0628
Relations	0629
Relations Public and Social Welfare	0630
Social Structure and	
Development Theory and Methods	0/00
ransportation	0709
ransportation Jrban and Regional Planning	0999
Nomen's Studies	0453

PHYSICAL SCIENCES

Salanaa

I

Pure Sciences	
Chemistry	
General Agricultural	0485
Agricultural	0749
Analytical	0486
Biochemistry	0487
Inorganic	0488
Nuclear	0738
Organic Pharmaceutical	0490
Pharmaceutical	0491
Physical	0494
Polymer	
Radiation	
Mathematics	0405
Physics	
General	0605
Acoustics	0986
Astronomy and	
Astrophysics Atmospheric Science	0606
Atmospheric Science	0608
Atomic Electronics and Electricity	0748
Electronics and Electricity	0607
Elementary Particles and	
High Energy Fluid and Plasma	0798
Fluid and Plasma	0759
Molecular	0609
Nuclear	
Optics	0752
Radiation	0756
Solid State	
Statistics	
Applied Sciences	
Applied Mechanics	0346
Applied Sciences Applied Mechanics Computer Science	0984

Engineering General	
General	.0537
Aerospace	.0538
Agricultural	.0539
Automotive	.0540
Biomedical	.0541
Chemical	
Civil	.0543
Electronics and Electrical	.0544
Heat and Thermodynamics	.0348
Hydraulic	.0545
Industrial	.0546
Marine	
Materials Science	.0794
Mechanical	.0548
Metallurgy	.0743
Mining	.0551
Nuclear	.0552
Packaging	.0549
Petroleum	.0765
Sanitary and Municipal	.0554
System Science	.0790
Geotechnology	.0428
Operations Research	.0796
Plastics Technology	0795
Operations Research Plastics Technology Textile Technology	.0994

PSYCHOLOGY

General	
Behavioral	
Clinical	
Developmental	
Experimental	
Industrial	0624
Personality	0625
Physiological	0989
Psychobiology	0349
Psychometrics	
Social	

 (\mathbf{x})

CUES USED BY BROOD PARASITES AND PREDATORS

TO LOCATE NESTS

BY

PAULA MICHELLE GRIEEF

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of the University of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

© 1995

Permission has been granted to the LIBRARY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA to lend or sell copies of this thesis, to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and LIBRARY MICROFILMS to publish an abstract of this thesis.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or other-wise reproduced without the author's written permission.

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis.

I authorize the University of Manitoba to lend this thesis to other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research.

Paula Michelle Grieef

I further authorize the University of Manitoba to reproduce this thesis by photocopying or by other means, in total or in part, at the request of other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research.

Paula Michelle Grieef

ABSTRACT

Predators and avian brood parasites must locate potential prey or hosts. They use a variety of cues to do this. This thesis examines five cues that could be used by predators and brood parasites to locate nests of Clay-colored Sparrows (Spizella pallida) to depredate or parasitize, respectively: nest concealment, nest height, supporting vegetation, parental activity, and parental aggression. Nest concealment, nest height and supporting vegetation were recorded for each active nest found and related to nest outcome. Parental activity was examined using nest placements simulating different levels of activity (an empty nest, a full clutch, one egg per day until a full clutch was achieved, one egg per day plus a model Clay-colored Sparrow perched near the nest, one egg per day plus a model plus a playback of a recorded Clay-colored Sparrow song). Parental aggression was studied using model testing using four models, a Brown-headed Cowbird Molothrus ater (a brood parasite), a Common Grackle Quiscalus quiscula (an avian predator), a Franklin's ground squirrel Spermophilus franklinii (a mammalian predator) and a Fox Sparrow Passerella iliaca (a control). None of the cues examined seem to be used by either predators or parasites to locate nests. Nest concealment, whether viewed from a parasite's point of view or a predator's was not related to nesting outcome. Most nests (67%) were highly concealed with 80-100% concealment. Neither nest height nor supporting vegetation affected nesting success. Most nests (41%) were built at heights of 101-200 mm and were placed in snowberry Symphoricarpos occidentalis (77%). None of the five levels of simulated parental activity elicited parasitism. Predation frequencies remained unaffected. Parental aggression could not be used to locate nests, as Claycolored Sparrows were found not to be aggressive towards the models.

v

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT i	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS vi	ii
LIST OF TABLES	İx
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
INTRODUCTION	6
METHODS 1	4
Study Site	4
Locating Nests 1	4
Nest Concealment 1	4
Nest Height and Supporting Vegetation 1	5
Parental Activity 10	6
Parental Aggression 18	8
Enemy recognition	8
Distance testing	0

RESULTS	23
Nest Concealment	23
Nest Height and Supporting Vegetation	23
Parental Activity	27
Parental Aggression	27
Enemy recognition	27
Distance testing	33

DISCUSSION	39
Nest Concealment	39
Nest Height and Supporting Vegetation	42
Parental Activity	43
Parental Aggression	47
Enemy recognition	47
Distance testing	50
SUMMARY	53

LITERATURE CITED	54
------------------	----

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank Dr. Spencer G. Sealy for his guidance throughout this study. The other members of my advisory committee, Drs. C. K. Bluhm, N. C. Kenkel and T.J. Wiens, made many important comments, that improved the thesis a great deal.

I am truly grateful for the field assistance and incredible nest-finding abilities of D. Beattie, K. Caldwell, D. Froese, G. Goulet, J. Lorenzana, G. Stinson and L. Zdrill. I would also like to thank S. Gill, T. Yerkes and G. McMaster for discussing ideas with me. I would like to thank D. Boutang, S. Gill and G. Grieef for reading early drafts of the thesis and making helpful comments. I would like to especially thank J. Grieef for spending many, many hours making many, many Clay-colored Sparrow eggs. I gratefully appreciate the patience of my family and my husband, during my summer absences. Thanks to the staff of Delta Marsh for all their help and hospitality. Statistical advice was provided by the University of Manitoba Statistical Advisory Service. This project was funded by a NSERC operating grant to S.G. Sealy and by two Special Department of Zoology Scholarships (University of Manitoba) to myself.

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1:	Definitions and units of measurement for behavioural responses	
	recorded during the parental aggression experiments.	22
TABLE 2:	Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success of Clay-	
	colored Sparrow nests for five concealment value categories	
	taken at eye-level and nest-level	24
TABLE 3:	Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success of nests	
	for 13 height categories	25
TABLE 4:	Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success of nests	
	for five supporting vegetation species.	26
TABLE 5:	Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success of	
	artificial nests with five levels of simulated parental activity	29
TABLE 6:	Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success on	
	artificial nests with five levels of simulated parental activity by	
	concealment category taken at eye-level.	30
TABLE 7:	Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success on	
	artificial nests with five levels of simulated parental activity for	
	the 80-100% concealment category at nest-level	31
TABLE 8:	Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to four models	
	presented at 0.5 m from the nest, and results of Kruskal-Wallis	
	test	32

TABLE 9:	Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to cowbird	
	models presented at three distances from the nest, and results	
	of Friedman test.	35
TABLE 10:	Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to Franklin's	
	ground squirrel models presented at three distances from the	
	nest, and results of Friedman test.	36
TABLE 11:	Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to Common	
	Grackle models presented at three distances from the nest, and	
	results of Friedman test.	37
TABLE 12:	Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to Fox Sparrow	
	models presented at three distances from the nest, and results	
	of Friedman test.	38

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

To survive, animals must overcome many obstacles. Among other things, they must eat, reproduce and find shelter. Predators and parasites must locate appropriate prey and hosts; prey and hosts must avoid being eaten and parasitized. Nest predators and avian brood parasites must search for suitable nests. Little is known about how they do this and what cues they use. This thesis explores experimentally some of the possible cues to which nest predators and parasitic birds respond.

Predation is responsible for up to 55% of brood losses (Ricklefs 1969, Martin 1992a). Most mammalian predators rely on olfaction to locate prey whereas avian predators are visual (Colwell 1992). Predators do not choose a particular set of species to depredate. Individual species of predators seem to be less selective than Brown-headed Cowbird (*Molothrus ater*) parasitisms. This is demonstrated by the large variety of species' nests affected by predation (see Ricklefs 1969). Predators may search an area and opportunistically prey upon nests and hence specific cues may not be that important.

A second cause of nest failure is avian brood parasitism, which may be responsible for up to 40% of nest losses (Ricklefs 1969). Brood parasitism is an alternative reproductive strategy in which an individual of one species (the parasite) lays its eggs in the nests of an individual of another or the same species (the host). The host then incubates the eggs and raises the parasite's young. Parasitism

1

frequently is costly to the host, in the form of lost reproductive effort such as egg removal (Sealy 1992), eviction of eggs or young (Wyllie 1981, Gill 1983), inefficient incubation (Petit 1991), or competition between parasitic and host young (Rothstein 1975, Payne 1977).

An obligate parasite, the Brown-headed Cowbird has always been thought to employ a generalist strategy in its use of hosts. Brown-headed Cowbirds have been reported parasitizing 216 species, although only 139 have been reported successfully raising young cowbirds (Friedmann et al. 1977). These numbers show, however, that although many species are potential hosts, some are preferred over others, for reasons that are not yet fully understood. In fact, several studies have also shown that cowbirds parasitize nests of some species much more frequently than others in the same community (e.g., Hill 1976, Elliott 1978, Fleischer 1986, Briskie et al. 1990). This suggests that cowbirds may be choosing among the available hosts, i.e. not employing a generalist strategy.

Payne (1977) discussed several characteristics that might influence host selection. Cowbirds require high-protein food, which makes certain seed-eating species such as American Goldfinches (*Carduelis tristis*) incompatible as hosts (see Middleton 1977, 1991). If host eggs are too large, the cowbird's eggs may not be effectively incubated (Payne 1977). Payne also mentioned that the more abundant host species are more likely to be parasitized (also see Friedmann 1929). Wiley (1988) identified several other characteristics important for host selection. The timing of the breeding seasons of both host and parasite must overlap (see also Carey 1982,

2

Burgham 1985) for the eggs to hatch in time for the young to be raised successfully. Nest defence by the host, through aggression or nest guarding, may influence host selection by making some hosts more dangerous to parasitize (Slack 1976, Neudorf and Sealy 1992). The final and perhaps most important characteristic is that hosts accept the parasitic egg. Rothstein (1975) identified accepters and rejecters of cowbird eggs by artificially parasitizing nests of approximately 50 actual and potential hosts of the Brown-headed Cowbird. He found that about a dozen species consistently ejected the cowbird egg whereas other species accepted it. It is important to the cowbird that a potential host accept parasitism; otherwise its egg is wasted. Ankney and Scott (1980) suggested that a cowbird would lay in an rejecter's nest if an accepter's nest was not available at the time of parasitism.

Some workers have suggested that cowbirds lay their eggs at random in any nest they happen upon (Mayfield 1965). Others have suggested that cowbirds discriminate among available nests in which they lay (Elliott 1977). Preston (1948) was the first to examine the distribution of cowbird eggs and to compare it to a Poisson (random) distribution. He looked at five data sets and found that only two fit a Poisson distribution, whereas the others did not. He then analyzed the data assuming that the first cowbird egg was not placed at random and all subsequent eggs were. Using this assumption he found that all five data sets fit a Poisson distribution, i.e. that cowbirds lay all subsequent eggs randomly. Elliott (1977) found similar results in the community he studied and concluded that cowbird egg distribution is non-random, which implies that cowbirds choose nests to parasitize. Linz and Bolin (1982) also had similar results, whether they looked at the total number of nests or only those parasitized.

Mayfield (1965), however, concluded that cowbirds lay at random, including their first egg. He examined eight studies and five of these conformed to a Poisson distribution. In the other three studies, he corrected a bias for deserted nests. This approach, however, introduced a new bias that may be just as important as the bias for deserted nests (see Elliott 1977). Mayfield had equivocal results with five cases supporting a random distribution of eggs and three cases supporting nest selection. Lowther's (1984) results were similar to Mayfield's. Lowther separated nests without cowbirds eggs into (1) nests undetected by cowbirds and (2) nests found but not parasitized. He included only the second category in his calculations and found that only four of 14 cases departed from a Poisson distribution, with each of the species receiving a high frequency of parasitism. Lowther concluded that female cowbirds select nests opportunistically.

The idea that cowbirds choose nests is gaining support as several studies have shown different parasitism frequencies on various species in a given community (Carter 1986, Fleischer 1986, Wiley 1988, Briskie et al. 1990, Ortega et al. 1994). This indicates that cowbirds are able to choose which nests they parasitize.

Nest predators and avian brood parasites must first locate nests from which to obtain food and to parasitize, respectively. Parasites are faced with the additional problem of selecting the 'best' nest from those found. Predators may also select the most profitable prey from those found (Krebs and Cowie 1976). Predators and

4

parasites may locate nests by looking for the actual nest, watching the parents building nests, flying over an area and flushing an incubating parent off the nest, smelling the parent on the nest or the eggs or nestlings, seeing the eggs or eggshells, detecting movements and hearing the sounds of the nestlings or by responding to alarm calls of the parents (Prescott 1965, Gottfried and Thompson 1978, Collias and Collias 1984, McLean et al. 1986). Predators may use all or some of these cues, depending on the prey and type of predator (olfactory versus visual; Clark and Nudds 1991, Colwell 1992).

In this study, I examined experimentally some of the cues that brood parasites and predators might use to locate nests. I did not examine whether these same cues may be used by parasites and predators to select nests.

INTRODUCTION

Both predators and cowbirds must locate nests and choose a suitable one from among those found. They may use similar cues, as brood parasites can be considered a type of predator (Wiley 1982). Very little is known about how predators locate nests (Smith 1974, Collias and Collias 1984). Few studies have looked at the predator/prey interaction from the point of view of the predator. Much of the literature describes tactics used to avoid being eaten or what occurs after food has been found or procured (but see Bell 1991). There is a large body of literature on optimal foraging that discusses what happens once the prey has been found (reviews in Krebs and McCleery 1984, Pyke 1984), which indicates that predators should choose the most profitable prey given their current condition.

Andersson (1981) described three general methods of searching by predators: (1) continuous movement, (2) sitting and waiting, and (3) pausing and travelling. Different animals use different techniques. Many avian predators often use the sit and wait and the pause and travel techniques. Birds have been documented perching and scanning, hovering and soaring in search of food (Carlson 1985, Viitala et al. 1995). Avian predators that hunt on the ground and mammalian predators are believed to find prey using directional, systematic searching or random search movements (Zach and Smith 1981, Benhamou 1992).

Three methods of searching, in this case for nests to parasitize, have also been documented for Brown-headed Cowbirds: (1) watching hosts at their nests, (2) silently

searching for nests, and (3) flushing hosts off nests (Norman and Robertson 1975, Wiley 1988). The most common method is watching hosts (Friedmann 1929, Hann 1941, Payne 1973).

Two behaviours predators and cowbirds could cue in on are activity and aggression of nest owners, which may indicate that there is an active nest in the area and draw the predator or parasite to the nest. Some other cues that might be used include song rates of adults and parental aggression to indicate the bird's quality (Smith 1981, Arcese and Smith 1988), activity around the nest to indicate nesting stage, nest placement (e.g., height, supporting vegetation, concealment), and nest type (Thompson and Gottfried 1981, Fleischer 1986, Orians et al. 1989, Briskie et al. 1990, Colwell 1992). These cues may lead predators or cowbirds to nests, may help them select nests and perhaps even provide information on the fitness of the adults (Smith 1981). For example, the more time a male can devote to singing, the more fit it may be (see Greig-Smith 1980, 1982; Reid and Sealy 1986).

In this study, I examined experimentally five cues that might be used by both predators and parasites to locate nests: nest concealment, nest height, vegetation supporting the nest, parental activity, and parental aggression.

Some researchers have suggested that predation is related to concealment for predators who rely primarily on sight to locate prey (Knapton 1978b, Wray and Whitmore 1979). Following this, visual predators should have more difficulty locating well-concealed nests with the result that these should be preyed upon less frequently. Predators who hunt by smell should be able to better locate nests regardless of

7

concealment simply because they do not rely primarily on visual cues (Clark and Nudds 1991, Holway 1991). Thus, if the major predators in an area use olfaction to find nests, predation frequencies should be independent of concealment.

For Clay-colored Sparrows (*Spizella pallida*), Knapton (1978b) found that better-concealed nests were depredated less frequently. Studies on other species have shown similar results but only for visual predators (Clark and Nudds 1991, Colwell 1992). The extent of this relationship for olfactory predators, however, is unknown. Knapton (1978a) concluded that ground squirrels were visual predators from his observation that they depredated well-concealed nests in snowberry (*Symphoricarpos occidentalis*) less frequently. However, most mammals use their sense of smell to locate food (Young 1957). Further, studies specific to rodents have demonstrated that they rely primarily on olfactory cues to locate prey (Howard et al. 1968, Jennings 1976). It is reasonable, therefore, to assume that ground squirrels are olfactory predators contrary to Knapton (Boonstra et al. 1990, Colwell 1992, but see Norment 1993). I predicted, therefore, that concealment is not related to nesting success of Clay-colored Sparrows because the Franklin's ground squirrel (*Spermophilus franklinii*) is its main predator.

Cowbirds are visual animals and it is reasonable to expect that they would parasitize less concealed nests more frequently simply because they are easier to locate. This raises a paradox, however, because other studies suggest that birds should select nest sites that reduce predation of their young (Murphy 1983). As better concealed nests suffer less predation (McLean et al. 1986, Sugden 1987,

8

Brown and Fredrickson 1989), cowbirds should parasitize better-concealed nests because they will also benefit from this reduced level of predation (see Gates and Gysel 1978). Further, highly concealed nests may also allow cowbirds to gain access to nests unnoticed by hosts so that they can lay their egg unmolested. The apparent importance of laying unnoticed by hosts is suggested by the fact that cowbirds take only a few seconds to lay their eggs and do so before sunrise when it is still fairly dark and many hosts are away from their nests (Scott 1991, Neudorf and Sealy 1994, Sealy et al. 1995). I predicted that these latter factors are more important to the cowbird than the difficulties in locating well-concealed nests and thus cowbirds should parasitize well-concealed nests more frequently.

Nest height and supporting vegetation may in fact be used as cues to locate nests. If nests are at a set height or in a particular species of plant, this would allow predators and parasites to form search images and "know" where to look. Briskie et al. (1990) showed that lower nests were parasitized more frequently. Filliater et al. (1994) discussed five hypotheses that explain how both nest height and vegetation could provide cues for predators when looking for nests. These hypotheses involve nest inaccessibility, nest height (high, mid-height and low nests) and vegetation (common and rare plants). They indicate that there is a wide variety of possible explanations for where nests are placed depending on the type of predators in the area. I predicted that nests that were built higher in the vegetation would be less successful because they are more obvious. I predicted that the vegetation supporting the nest would influence nesting outcome, in that some vegetation offers better protection from nest threats than others.

Parental activity at nests may be used by cowbirds to locate nests (Friedmann 1929, Hann 1941, Buech 1982, Wiley 1988). I tested this by placing out old nests (see Thompson and Gottfried 1981). For parental activity to assist the cowbird in finding nests, activity must be centred near or at the nest and occur when parasitism is appropriate. These activities may include nest building, mate guarding, nest visits and egg laying. Several studies have shown that when old nests were placed out, even with eggs, cowbirds did not lay eggs in them (e.g., Laskey 1950, Thompson and Gottfried 1976). Therefore, Lowther (1979) and Thompson and Gottfried (1981) attempted to simulate parental activity by adding one egg per day to each nest, but still recorded only a low frequency of parasitism (see also Wiley 1988). This suggests that more obvious parental activity is indeed necessary. I investigated this by simulating five levels of increasing parental activity: empty nests, nests with full clutches, nests in which one egg was placed per day, nests with model hosts and nests with song. I predicted that the frequency of parasitism will increase with increasing amounts of parental activity.

Predators may also use parental activity at the nest to locate nests (review in Collias and Collias 1984). The activity of adults may direct the predator to the nest site or may cue it to an active nest nearby. Here, too, I predicted that simulating increasing amounts of activity of nest owners at artificial nests should cause the frequency of predation to increase.

Parental aggression has usually been thought to discourage both predators and parasites (Buitron 1983, Smith et al. 1984, Martin 1992b). Some hosts can distinguish cowbirds from other potential nest threats (Nice 1937, Robertson and Norman 1976, Hobson and Sealy 1989, Neudorf and Sealy 1992). Enemy recognition can be tested experimentally by placing models of different enemies near nests and quantifying the birds' responses to them. Some species react more aggressively to a cowbird model, thus providing a potential cue for cowbirds to locate active nests (Robertson and Norman 1977, Smith 1981). For a variety of species, e.g. Red-winged Blackbird (Agelaius phoeniceus), parental aggression such as chases, alarm calls, attacks and strikes is directed towards a female cowbird (Hobson and Sealy 1989, Neudorf and Sealy 1992). It has been suggested that individuals that defend their nests more aggressively will be parasitized more frequently because they are more likely to be near their nests and reveal their positions (Robertson and Norman 1977, Smith 1981, Carter 1986). This has become known as the nest-cue hypothesis. Smith (1981) also suggested that parental aggression may reflect parental quality. Parental aggression being used by nest-searching cowbirds has been viewed as "maladaptive" (Smith 1981, Smith et al. 1984) because it potentially lowers the reproductive output of hosts. Smith et al. (1984) suggested that the use of parental aggression as a cue to nest location could have come about when the potential benefits of successfully driving off some predators with aggressive behaviour outweighed the potential cost of attracting cowbirds. For the nest-cue hypothesis to be supported, nesting birds must respond to a threat at a distance that would enable the cowbird to use the

behaviour to locate the nest. If the birds do not react until the cowbird is very close (e.g. 0.5 m or less), then the nest probably has already been found and the nest-cue hypothesis is invalidated (Neudorf and Sealy 1992). If the level of aggression increases as the nest is approached, then the nest-cue hypothesis may be borne out (Duckworth 1991). I predicted that hosts will react to a nest threat at distances greater than 0.5 m, thus allowing parental aggression to be a mechanism for finding nests.

Predators also may use aggression to locate nests. Some studies have found that more aggressive pairs were depredated more frequently (Searcy 1979, Röell and Bossema 1982), whereas other studies have found the opposite (Greig-Smith 1980, Blancher and Robertson 1982). I predicted that if predators are able to use aggression to locate nests, nest owners must respond aggressively towards a model at different distances from their nests, perhaps becoming more aggressive as the model is placed closer to the nest and the threat increases. Knapton (1978a) stated that nest defense does not prevent predation. This may also apply to parasitism because cowbirds are larger than Clay-colored Sparrows. Sealy (1994) presented many observations of both predators and parasites being successful despite the presence of the nest owners, including nests of Clay-colored Sparrows (see also Neudorf and Sealy 1994, but see Buitron 1983). Therefore, if sparrows have little chance of deterring predators or cowbirds, concealment of the nest and minimizing their activity around the nest may be alternative strategies to increase their reproductive output. Minimizing the activity around the nest could be accomplished

in two ways: (1) males could avoid the nest during building and egg laying, or (2) the adults could temporarily abandon the nest site when a nest threat is approaching (Burgham 1985).

In the present study, I examined the importance of parental activity and aggression to Brown-headed Cowbirds and predators in locating nests. I also determined if nest concealment, supporting vegetation and nest height were used as cues to locate nests. The study species involved is the Clay-colored Sparrow, an accepter species (Hill and Sealy 1994).

Study Site

This study was conducted at the University of Manitoba Field Station, Delta Marsh (50° 10'N, 98° 22'W), Manitoba, during the springs of 1993 and 1994, in an area known as the Oxbow Woods. Situated along the southern edge of Delta Marsh, this woodlot is surrounded by old-field succession dominated by snowberry and wild rose (*Rosa* sp.) (see Evans 1972, Gamble 1980, Hill 1992, Hill and Sealy 1994).

Locating Nests

All experiments except those relating to parental activity were conducted with active Clay-colored Sparrow nests. I searched the southern portion of the study site for sparrow nests daily from mid-May to the end of June. I searched the habitat thoroughly, checking every tuft of grass and snowberry bush. I flagged and numbered each nest approximately 2 m away, and inspected each nest daily until the fourth day of incubation for signs of predation, i.e. broken eggs, eggshells, tipped nests, missing eggs (see Major 1991, Sealy 1994) and parasitism, i.e. presence of a cowbird egg.

Nest Concealment

I quantified the degree of concealment at each nest by assigning cover values on a scale from 1-5, that corresponded to increasing concealment of the nest (1=0-20% concealed, 2=20-40% concealed, etc.). Estimates were made from eight

compass directions, at two heights (nest height and the observer's eye level) and one value from above the nest. I then calculated an average concealment value. All measurements were taken one meter from the nest (see Holway 1991). These measurements simulated the cowbird's or avian predator's vantage point (observer's eye level; see Gochfeld 1979) and a mammalian predator's vantage point (nest height). The concealment estimate from above was intended to reflect what a cowbird may see when perched. I estimated the cover value on the day the nest was tested (see below) or on the day the last Clay-colored Sparrow egg was laid. This ensured that the nest was active (Friedmann 1929, McGeen 1971). I then correlated concealment values with the nest outcome (predation, parasitism or success). I considered a nest successful if the clutch was still intact three days after the last egg The three-day cutoff was chosen because Clay-colored Sparrows are was laid. sometimes parasitized shortly after the clutch is complete. The chosen time frame includes four days of incubation. However, most parasitism occurs during the egglaying period (Hill 1992). I ended the experiment before fledgling success was known because I wanted a comparable time frame for both parasitism, which occurs near the beginning of the nesting cycle, and predation, which occurs throughout the nesting cycle.

Nest Height and Supporting Vegetation

I recorded the height of the nest rim from the ground. For analysis, I broke the heights into increments of 100 mm, the approximate height of a single nest. The dominant plant species in which the nest was placed was recorded to determine if there was any relationship to nest outcome.

Parental Activity

Old Clay-colored Sparrow nests (collected by D.P. Hill in 1991, and by me in 1993) were placed randomly in Clay-colored Sparrow nesting habitat from 3 to 18 June in 1993 and 6 to 21 June in 1994. Nests were placed in sites with known (controlled) concealment values (Lowther 1979) for eight days, which simulates one day as an empty nest, four days of egg laying and three days of incubation (four-egg clutches are the modal clutch size for Clay-colored Sparrows at Delta (Hill 1992)). I placed the nests 3 m apart along a transect, 1 to 2 m alternately to the left or right of a rope stretched along the transect. I flagged each nest location along the rope so that I could relocate the nests. With this spacing, nests were 4 to 6 m apart, as they were placed on alternate sides of the rope and 1 to 2 m from it. I chose this spacing because Clay-colored Sparrow territories are small (natural nests are sometimes within 5 m of each other (Knapton 1979)). Nests received one of five treatments: (1) no eggs (nest was left empty), (2) full clutch of four artificial eggs was introduced on day 1, (3) one artificial egg was introduced per day until a full clutch was achieved, (4) treatment 3 with the addition of model Clay-colored Sparrow perched near the nest, or (5) treatment 4 with the addition of a playback of a recorded Clay-colored Sparrow song (Thompson and Gottfried 1981). I discuss the manufacture of artificial eggs and treatments 4 and 5 in greater detail below. Each

treatment, consisting of 20-35 nests, simulated laying and different amounts of parental activity to determine if parental activity influenced predation and parasitism frequencies (see Wiley 1988). Comparisons were made between treatments for the three nest outcomes to determine if parental activity affected nesting outcome.

The eggs were made of plaster-of-Paris and painted to resemble Clay-colored Sparrow eggs (Rothstein 1975). The eggs were slightly larger and heavier than real Clay-colored Sparrow eggs (2.2 g versus 1.6 g; 17.5 mm x 13.4 mm versus 17.1 mm x 12.7 mm; measurements from Walkinshaw 1944 and Bent 1968). The slightly greater mass and size should not affect the study because predators were able to remove the eggs (pers. obs.) and there is some natural variation in egg size (Bent 1968). Cowbirds should not be affected because they are known to parasitize species with eggs that are larger than those of Clay-colored Sparrows (e.g. Fleischer 1986). I placed nests in active territories as the study was conducted during the breeding season of Clay-colored Sparrows. Thus, there was an increased level of activity near the experimental nests that was in addition to the simulated levels of activity. This may have been a problem but the activity probably was similar for each artificial nest. This problem was not addressed in other studies using artificial nests in active territories (see Lowther 1979, Thompson and Gottfried 1981).

The models used in treatment 4 and 5 were Clay-colored Sparrows, freezedried and mounted on poles, and placed facing the nest. The models were placed 0.5 m from the nest for 30 minutes every morning from 0630-1000 (Central Standard Time) for 7 days (Wiley 1988). Cowbirds are active in nesting areas in the morning and then move off these areas to feeding areas during the late morning or early afternoon (Rothstein 1984). Treatment 5 utilized songs of Clay-colored Sparrows that had been recorded in 1993 and transferred to a loop tape at a rate of 9 songs/minute, a rate that fell within the natural song rate (Bent 1968). Song was played back for 30 minutes on a cassette recorder placed at the base of the pole. The model treatment and model plus song treatment were randomly assigned to nests and to a different 30-minute period every day so that each nest received the treatment over each 30-minute period during the experiment. Two runs of nest placements were conducted to increase sample size.

For nest concealment, nest height, supporting vegetation, and parental activity, Fisher exact tests (2-tailed) were used for desired comparisons of each cue and nest outcome because the populations were not normally distributed and had cell sizes smaller than five (Conover 1980, Zar 1984).

Parental Aggression

Enemy recognition

To test whether Clay-colored Sparrows recognized different nest threats, I used the data on responses by sparrows to three models (female Brown-headed Cowbirds, Franklin's ground squirrel and Common Grackle *Quiscalus quiscula*) placed 0.5 m from active nests from the distance testing experiment (see below). I added a fourth model, a Fox Sparrow (*Passerella iliaca*), to serve as a control. The sparrow is a good control because it is similar in shape and size to female cowbirds

but neither parasitizes nor preys upon Clay-colored Sparrow nests. It is found on the study area only during migration and therefore should rarely interact with Claycolored Sparrows. Thus, I expected the Fox Sparrow to elicit low levels of aggression (see Hobson and Sealy 1989, Neudorf and Sealy 1992, Bazin and Sealy 1993). These models allowed determination of responses to different potential enemies. In this series of tests, I included only tests where birds responded because I was interested in the actual aggressive responses of the birds and not whether they responded by avoiding the nest.

The tests were conducted during the egg-laying stage. Data were taperecorded and later transcribed. The responses of Clay-colored Sparrows were recorded following the methods of Smith et al. (1984), as modified by Hobson and Sealy (1989). Responses were: (a) time spent <2 m, 2 m to 5 m or >5 m from the model, (b) vocalizations (chip, quiet chip), (c) hidden in the vegetation, (d) attacks, (e) feeding, (f) incubating, (g) perching, (h) out of area, and (i) singing. I scored categories a, c, e, f and h as the number of 10-second intervals in which they occurred while I scored all other categories as the actual number of times they occurred in the 5-minute test (refer to Table 1). The time Clay-colored Sparrows took to react to the model was also recorded as an indication of parental attentiveness. The responses of both male and female were combined as the sexes could not be distinguished in this unmarked population. Each test was run for 5 minutes with 15minute rest periods between successive model presentations to reduce carry-over aggression. Observations were made from a blind 5 to 10 m from the nest. The models used in the distance testing were taxidermically mounted in upright, nonthreatening postures. Models were placed facing the nest. Nests were tested from 0600 to 1900 (CST) and each nest was tested only once at all three distances. The test was started when a bird returned to within 5 m of the model. If no bird showed up within 30 minutes, the test was ended and this was considered no response.

Distance testing

To test the nest-cue hypothesis, I placed a female cowbird model 0.5 m, 2.5 m and 4.5 m from nests to determine at what distance Clay-colored Sparrows reacted to a cowbird. The farthest distance was selected on the basis of territory size, which sometimes placed nests as close as 5 m apart (Knapton 1979). This test permitted determination of the possibility that a cowbird could use parental aggression to locate nests. To determine if predators elicited aggressive behaviour that could be used as a cue, model testing at the same three distances was done using an avian predator (Common Grackle) and a mammalian predator (Franklin's ground squirrel). The grackle was chosen as the avian predator because it breeds in the study area.

I chose the Franklin's ground squirrel as the mammalian predator because it is found on the study area in substantial numbers and is known to prey on bird nests (Sowls 1948, Knapton 1978b, Sargeant et al. 1987). To act as a control, I tested four nests with a model Fox Sparrow placed at the three distances.

For the distance-model testing, Friedman analysis of variance was used due to the nonparametric nature of the data. For the enemy recognition testing, I used the Kruskal-Wallis test. If a significant difference was found between the distances or models, I then used nonparametric multiple comparisons to determine where the difference was (Conover 1980, Conover and Iman 1981; also see Neudorf 1991).

TABLE 1:	Definitions and units of measurement for behavioural responses
	recorded during the parental aggression experiments.

Response	Description	Unit of measurement Number of 10-sec intervals each parent spent at this distance during the 5 min trial	
< 2 m	Distance of parent(s) from model		
2-5 m	Distance of parent(s) from model	Number of 10-sec intervals each parent spent at this distance during the 5 min trial	
> 5 m	Distance of parent(s) from model	Number of 10-sec intervals each parent spent at this distance during the 5 min trial	
Incubation	Female on nest Number of 10-sec intervals the fe spent on the nest during the 5 min		
In vegetation	Parent(s) hidden in vegetation Number of 10-sec intervals each spent in the vegetation during the min trial		
Leave area	Parent(s) no longer in sight Number of 10-sec intervals was out of sight during the		
Chip	Alarm call given by parent(s)	Number of times the call occurred during the 5 min trial	
Quiet chip	Communication call given by parent(s)	Number of times the call occurred during the 5 min trial	
Close passes	Parent(s) swoop over model Number of times behaviour occur during the 5 min trial		
Perch changes	Parent(s) hop from perch to perch Number of times behaviour occur during the 5 min trial		
Return time	Time it took one or both parents to return to nest area	Seconds	

RESULTS

I found 112 Clay-colored Sparrow nests, of which 13 were parasitized (11.6%), 12 were preyed upon (10.7%), and 87 were successful (77.7%) in the first eight days of the nesting cycle. The three outcomes of the nests did not differ between the two years (Fisher exact test, p=0.712).

Nest Concealment

Most nests (>67%) were highly concealed (concealment values between 4 and 5). For all concealment values taken at both eye-level and nest-level (Table 2), the three outcomes did not differ significantly (eye-level, Fisher exact test, p=0.391; nest-level, Fisher exact test, p=0.642). Concealment values measured from above also did not differ significantly for the three possible outcomes (Fisher exact test, p=0.149).

Nest Height and Supporting Vegetation

Nest height did not affect nest outcome (Fisher exact test, p=0.203). Fortyone percent of the nests were built at heights from 101 to 200 mm (Table 3). Snowberry was the dominant plant with 77% of nests built in this species (Table 4). Nest outcome was not related to supporting vegetation (Fisher exact test, p=0.826).

23

Concealment ^a values (% concealed)	Nest Outcome ^b			
	Parasitized (%)°	Depredated (%)°	Successful (%)°	Total (%)°
Eye-level				
40-60	2 (1.8)	0	7 (6.3)	9 (8.1)
60-80	1 (0.9)	4 (3.6)	23 (20.5)	28 (25.0)
80-100	10 (8.9)	8 (7.1)	57 (50.9)	75 (66.9)
Total	13 (11.6)	12 (10.7)	87 (77.7)	112 (100.0)
Nest-level				
40-60	0	0	0	0
60-80	1 (0.9)	0	3 (2.7)	4 (3.6)
80-100	12 (10.7)	12 (10.7)	84 (75.0)	108 (96.4)
Total	13 (11.6)	12 (10.7)	87 (77.7)	112 (100.0)

Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success of Clay-colored Sparrow nests for five concealment value categories taken at eye-level TABLE 2: and nest-level.

* Includes eight directions and above that emulate what a cowbird or an avian (eye-level values) or mammalian (nest-level values) predator would see.

No nest fell in the 0-20% or the 20-40% concealment categories.
Number of total nests. Percentage of total nests in parentheses.

 \mathbf{r}_{i}

TABLE 3:	Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success of nests height categories.	for 13
----------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------

Nest height	Nest Outcome					
(mm)	Parasitized (%) ^a	Depredated (%) ^a	Successful (%) ^a	Total (%)		
0-100	2 (1.8)	1 (0.9)	8 (7.1)	11 (9.8)		
101-200	4 (3.6)	3 (2.7)	39 (34.8)	46 (41.1)		
201-300	3 (2.7)	7 (6.3)	31 (27.7)	41 (36.7)		
301-400	2 (1.8)	1 (0.9)	7 (6.3)	10 (9.0)		
401-500	1 (0.9)	0	2 (1.8)	3 (2.7)		
501-650	1 (0.9)	0	0	1 (0.9)		
Total	13 (11.6)	12 (10.7)	87 (77.7)	112 (100.0)		

* Number of total nests. Percentage of total nests in parentheses.

Plant	Nest Outcome						
Species	Parasitized (%) ^a	Depredated (%) ^a	Successful (%) ^a	Total (%) ^a			
Snowberry	11 (9.8)	8 (7.1)	67 (59.8)	86 (76.7)			
Rose	0	1 (0.9)	4 (3.6)	5 (4.5)			
Grass	2 (1.8)	3 (2.7)	13 (11.6)	18 (16.1)			
Raspberry	0	0	2 (1.8)	2 (1.8)			
Gooseberry	0	0	1 (0.9)	1 (0.9)			
Total	13 (11.6)	12 (10.7)	87 (77.7)	112 (100.0)			

 TABLE 4:
 Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success of nests for five supporting vegetation species.

• Number of total nests. Percentage of total nests in parentheses.

Parental Activity

Only one of the five treatments affected nest outcome. The fifth treatment (one egg/day plus model plus song) was significantly different from the other treatments (Fisher exact test, p=0.009), because no nests in this treatment were depredated. None of the nests from any treatment was parasitized (Table 5). Distribution of nests according to concealment values for both eye-level and nest-level was similar to active nests. Most nests fell in the 80-100% concealment category (compare Table 2). Concealment also did not affect the outcome for any treatment at eye-level (Table 6). However, for concealment values at nest-level (Table 7), 80%-100% concealment had a significant effect on the outcome for treatment five (Fisher exact test, p=0.001). Again this was due to the lack of predation on nests in this treatment.

Parental Aggression

Enemy recognition

The 0.5-m distances from the model testing described below were used to test for enemy recognition. Two of the recorded responses, namely time intervals spent less than 2 m from the model and time intervals spent greater than 5 m from the model, differed significantly among the models presented (Table 8). Clay-colored Sparrows spent more time closer to the cowbird model than any of the other three models and they also spent more time farther from the Fox Sparrow model than the others. The 'chip' alarm call (Walkinshaw 1944) frequency also increased slightly in response to the cowbird and sparrow models but not for either predator model.

. 1

Simulated	Nest Outcome						
parental activity ^a	Parasitized (%) ^b	Depredated (%) ^b	Successful (%) ^b				
No eggs $(n=33)$	0	10 (30.3)	23 (66.7)				
Full clutch (n=33)	0	11 (33.3)	22 (66.7)				
One egg/day (n=34)	0	13 (38.2)	21 (61.8)				
One egg/day + model (n=21)	0	5 (23.8)	16 (76.2)				
One egg/day + model + song (n=21)	0	0	21 (100.0)				

Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success of artificial nests with five levels of simulated parental activity. TABLE 5:

Sample size (n) = number of nests in each level of simulated activity.
 Percentage of total nests for each level of simulated activity.

TABLE 6:	Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success on artificial nests with five levels of simulated
	parental activity by concealment category taken at eye-level.

					Nest	Outcome wi	th Simula	ted Parent	al Activity	<u></u>					·····
Concealment		No eggs	5		Full clut	ch		One egg/c	lay	One	e egg/day+	model	One eg	g/day+m	odel+song
values (% concealed)	P* (%)	D• (%)	Sª (%)	P (%)	D (%)	S (%)	P (%)	D (%)	S (%)	P (%)	D (%)	S (%)	P (%)	D (%)	S (%)
0-20	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
20-40	0	0	0	0	0	1 (3.1)	0	1 (2.9)	1 (2.9)	0	0	0	0	0	0
40-60	0	0	0	0	0	2 (6.3)	0	0	1 (2.9)	0	0	2 (9.5)	0	0	4 (19.1)
60-80	0	2 (6.1)	8 (24.2)	0	3 (9.4)	4 (12.5)	0	3 (8.6)	1 (2.9)	0	1 (4.8)	5 (23.8)	0	Ŭ 0	6 (28.6)
80-100	0	8 (24.2)	15 (45.5)	0	8 (25.0)	14 (43.8)	0	9 (25.7)	19 (54.3)	0	4 (19.1)	9 (42.9)	ů 0	ů 0	11 (52.4)

* P = parasitized, S = successful, D = depredated.

TABLE 7:	Frequency of parasitism, depredation and nest success on artificial
	nests with five levels of simulated parental activity for the 80-100%
	concealment category at nest-level.

Simulated		Nest Outcome ^a	
parental activity	Parasitized (%)	Depredated (%)	Successful (%)
No eggs	0	10 (30.3)	23 (69.7)
Full clutch	0	12 (36.7)	20 (60.6)
One egg/day	0	13 (38.2)	20 (58.8)
One egg/day + model	0	5 (23.8)	15 (71.4)
One egg/day + model+song	0	0	19 (90.5)

* No nest fell in the 0-20% or 20-40% concealment ranges. One successful nest fell in the 40-60% concealment range for the full clutch treatment. Four successful nests fell in the 60-80% concealment range: one in the one egg/day treatment, one in the one egg/day+model treatment and 2 in the one egg/day+model+song treatment.

	Type of model presented					
Response ^a	BHCO ^b (17) ^c	COGR (10)	FGSQ (10)	FOSP (4)	p-value ^d	
< 2 m	31.8 ± 4.8	9.6 ± 4.2	9.7 ± 4.0	0.3 ± 0.3	0.0014	
2-5 m	7.1 ± 2.2	18.3 ± 5.1	15.8 ± 5.3	18.3 ± 12.9	0.1745	
> 5 m	1.4 ± 0.8	3.1 ± 2.5	3.3 ± 3.2	11.8 ± 4.8	0.0171	
Incubation	3.4 ± 2.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4625	
In vegetation	5.4 ± 2.1	13.3 ± 4.2	9.8 ± 4.7	18.0 ± 10.1	0.2612	
Leave area	0.8 ± 0.5	4.0 ± 2.7	3.7 ± 2.7	8.0 ± 4.6	0.5975	
Chip	8.1 ± 2.7	1.0 ± 0.7	2.7 ± 2.7	5.0 ± 4.7	0.0562	
Quiet chip	3.0 ± 1.8	1.3 ± 0.7	1.9 ± 0.6	0.5 ± 0.5	0.4223	
Close passes	0.5 ± 0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4625	
Perch changes	28.9 ± 6.2	29.3 ± 11.5	21.0 ± 5.8	11.5 ± 4.2	0.6872	
Return time (s)	484.1 ± 152.2	922.0 ± 254.3	446.3 ± 174.6	394.8 ± 1126.9	0.0900	

TABLE 8:Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to four models presented at 0.5 m from the nest, and
results of Kruskal-Wallis test.

Responses are given as mean \pm s.e.

* Refer to Table 1 for explanation of behaviours and units.

^b BHCO=Brown-headed Cowbird, COGR=Common Grackle, FGSQ=Franklin's ground squirrel, FOSP=Fox Sparrow.

^c Combined sample sizes for male and female are given in parentheses.

^d Results of the Friedman test for comparisons among the four models.

Distance testing

Seventeen nests were tested with a model female cowbird placed at three distances from the nest. Of the recorded responses to the model, only four differed significantly among the distances: time intervals spent less than 2 m from the model, time intervals spent 2-5 m from the model, frequency of chips, and frequency of perch changes (Table 9). The birds spent more time closer to the nest when the model was closer to the nest and centred their activities around the nest. The frequency of chip calling and the frequency of perch changes increased as the model was placed closer to the nest. The time females incubated was greatest when the model was placed the farthest from the nest, although this difference was only slight (Table 9). None of the more aggressive behaviours, such as flybys and chips, differed significantly among the distances because each was rare. The time adults took to respond and the number of adults that responded also were not significantly different for all three distances.

Clay-colored Sparrows did not react aggressively to the model Franklin's ground squirrel as only one behaviour recorded differed significantly among the three distances, the quiet chip (Table 10). Incubation and perch changes showed distinct but not significant trends. Incubation increased as the model distance from the nest increased, whereas perch changes decreased.

Clay-colored Sparrows did not react aggressively to the model Common Grackle, as only two behaviours recorded differed significantly among the three distances, time intervals spent less than 2 m from the model and time intervals spent

33

greater than 5 m from the model (Table 11). The sparrows spent more time closer to the model when it was closer to the nest and more time farther from the model when it was farthest from the nest. This indicates that the birds centred their behaviour around the nest, not around the model. Perch changes showed a strong trend but it did not differ significantly among the distances, decreasing in frequency as the model was placed farther from the nest. Only the quiet chip differed significantly among the distances for the Fox Sparrow model (Table 12). Chipping decreased as the model was placed farther away, this decrease did not, however, differ significantly among the three distances.

		Distance (m)		
Response	0.5 (16) ^b	2.5 (16)	4.5 (17)	p-value ^c
< 2 m	33.5 ± 4.3	22.4 ± 4.0	6.8 ± 3.1	0.0001
2-5 m	5.6 ± 1.8	14.6 ± 2.8	29.5 ± 2.6	0.0001
> 5 m	1.2 ± 0.8	2.1 ± 1.5	1.8 ± 0.8	0.6176
Incubation	3.4 ± 2.3	2.5 ± 1.9	13.0 ± 3.6	0.0529
In vegetation	5.4 ± 2.1	9.7 ± 2.2	8.5 ± 2.4	0.2408
Leave area	0.9 ± 0.5	1.7 ± 1.2	4.4 ± 2.5	0.7662
Chip	9.8 ± 2.9	7.3 ± 2.8	1.0 ± 0.7	0.0166
Quiet chip	1.3 ± 0.8	3.1 ± 1.6	0.6 ± 0.3	0.2218
Close passes	0.5 ± 0.4	0.0	0.0	0.1302
Perch changes	30.8 ± 5.9	21.2 ± 5.0	12.2 ± 3.3	0.0018
Return time	2545.9 ± 2059.3	556.6 ± 137.9	298.7 ± 113.7	0.9860

TABLE 9:Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to cowbird models
presented at three distances from the nest, and results of Friedman
test.

Responses are given as mean \pm s.e.

* Refer to Table 1 for explanations of behaviours and units.

^b Combined sample sizes for male and female are given in parentheses.

e Results of the Friedman test for comparisons among the three distances.

TABLE 10:	Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to Franklin's ground
	squirrel models presented at three distances from the nest, and results
	of Friedman test.

	***	Distance (m)		
Response	0.5 (9)	2.5 (8)	4.5 (8)	p-value
< 2 m	9.7 ± 4.0	0.50 ± 0.5	3.8 ± 3.7	0.3254
2-5 m	15.8 ± 5.3	25.5 ± 4.5	22.4 ± 5.6	0.8883
> 5 m	3.3 ± 3.2	7.6 ± 2.6	5.8 ± 3.3	0.1088
Incubation	0.0	2.0 ± 2.0	6.0 ± 4.1	0.1567
In vegetation	9.8 ± 4.7	14.3 ± 4.2	14.4 ± 4.9	0.3731
Leave area	3.7 ± 2.7	4.0 ± 2.7	5.6 ± 3.9	0.2541
Chip	2.7 ± 2.7	0.1 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.1	0.8432
Quiet chip	1.9 ± 0.6	2.6 ± 1.0	5.3 ± 1.7	0.0443
Close passes	0.0	0.0	0.0	-
Perch changes	21.0 ± 5.8	13.9 ± 5.6	7.6 ± 3.0	0.1885
Return time	446.3 ± 174.6	778.4 ± 196.3	894.5 ± 215.1	0.5204

Responses are given as mean \pm s.e. Conventions as in Table 9.

	Distance (m)			
Response	0.5 (7)	2.5 (8)	4.5 (10)	p-value
< 2 m	9.6 ± 4.2	2.9 ± 2.0	0.0	0.0111
2-5 m	18.3 ± 5.1	23.8 ± 3.8	16.8 ± 4.3	0.7495
> 5 m	3.1 ± 2.5	14.6 ± 5.2	20.2 ± 4.1	0.0361
Incubation	0.0	2.0 ± 2.0	0.0	0.3690
In vegetation	13.3 ± 4.2	15.9 ± 4.8	20.6 ± 4.8	0.2858
Leave area	4.0 ± 2.7	0.1 ± 0.1	2.7 ± 2.0	0.2739
Chip	1.0 ± 0.7	1.9 ± 1.6	0.3 ± 0.2	0.8600
Quiet chip	1.3 ± 0.7	4.0 ± 1.2	2.7 ± 0.9	0.4282
Close passes	0.0	0.0	0.0	-
Perch changes	29.3 ± 11.5	17.0 ± 4.4	15.2 ± 3.2	0.1027
Return time	922.0 ± 254.3	729.4 ± 206.9	613.9 ± 216.4	0.2082

TABLE 11:Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to Common Grackle
models presented at three distances from the nest, and results of
Friedman test.

Responses are given as mean \pm s.e. Conventions as in Table 9.

	Distance (m)			
Response	0.5 (4)	2.5 (4)	4.5 (4)	p-value
< 2 m	0.3 ± 0.3	0.5 ± 0.5	2.5 ± 1.9	0.1537
2-5 m	18.3 ± 12.9	3.0 ± 0.7	11.5 ± 4.1	0.1780
> 5 m	13.0 ± 4.8	18.0 ± 6.1	10.5 ± 5.0	0.8240
Incubation	0.0	0.0	5.0 ± 5.0	0.4219
In vegetation	18.0 ± 10.1	9.0 ± 4.9	4.3 ± 3.9	0.2746
Leave area	8.0 ± 4.6	9.0 ± 6.4	6.5 ± 4.3	0.9334
Chip	5.0 ± 4.7	0.3 ± 0.3	0.0	0.1537
Quiet chip	0.5 ± 0.5	2.8 ± 0.6	0.5 ± 0.5	0.0029
Close passes	0.0	0.0	0.0	-
Perch changes	11.5 ± 4.2	6.8 ± 3.4	9.8 ± 2.8	1.0000
Return time	394.8 ± 126.9	347.4 ± 128.0	83.0 ± 36.7	0.4219

TABLE 12:Summary of responses of Clay-colored Sparrows to Fox Sparrow
models presented at three distances from the nest, and results of
Friedman test.

Responses are given as mean \pm s.e. Conventions as in Table 9.

DISCUSSION

Despite the high frequency of predation and parasitism on bird nests in general, little is known about how predators and parasites find nests. They probably use a variety of cues to locate them. Depending upon the importance of nest contents in their diets, predators may often find nests opportunistically. Brood parasites, however, must find host nests in order to reproduce. Some cues used by predators and brood parasites to find nests may be able to be identified by correlations from observations of natural predation and parasitism. However, appropriate experiments should offer the best way of revealing cues that potential predators and brood parasites use to find nests. Using an experimental approach in some cases, I investigated the importance of five potential cues that could provide information to predators and/or parasites on the location of nests or nest sites. These cues were nest concealment, nest height, supporting vegetation, parental activity and parental aggression. The results in some cases supported the hypotheses, but not in others.

Nest Concealment

The non-significant findings suggest that there is no relationship between nest concealment and nest outcome. Several workers have reported that more concealed nests were less likely to be depredated (Martin and Roper 1988, Brown and Fredrickson 1989, Clark and Nudds 1991). In a review of the literature, Clark and

Nudds (1991) reported that the importance of nest concealment was dependent on the predator community. They found that concealment of duck nests was important when avian predators were present but when mammals or both birds and mammals were present, nest concealment was less important. Best and Stauffer (1980) found that nest concealment was not related to nesting outcome for a community consisting of 15 different species when there was a mix of avian and mammalian predators. Their results showed that nests with poor concealment had success frequencies of 49%, those with good concealment had success frequencies of 44% and those with excellent concealment had success frequencies of 35%. Best (1978) concluded that for Field Sparrows (Spizella pusilla) nest concealment does not affect snake predation but he did not look at concealment from above and could not relate concealment to cowbird parasitism. Smith (1981) presented similar results where the main predator was avian. He also looked at parasitism and found that concealment was also not related to nest success. He unfortunately does not give any details as to his findings. Anderson and Storer (1976) found more cowbird eggs in dense cover, indicating that for Kirtland's Warbler (Dendroica kirtlandii) more-concealed nests were parasitized more frequently (0.70 cowbird eggs per nest in heavy nest concealment versus 0.47 cowbird eggs per nest in light nest concealment). However, this relationship was not significant. Buech (1982) also found that parasitized nests tended to be better concealed than non-parasitized nests. He also suggests that parental activity may be important in finding these nests. Nice (1937:93-94) and Nolan (1978:401) found that better-concealed nests were parasitized and depredated less often than poorly

concealed nests. Nice divided nests into those with excellent concealment and those with good, fair or poor concealment. Nests in the first group had success frequencies of 55% versus 36% success in the second group. Nolan divided concealment into nests with above average concealment and those with below average concealment. Success of the below average group was 0% versus 21% for the above average group. Finally, Holway (1991) found that nest sites were more concealed than random points (40% versus 20% concealed) but successful and depredated nests did not differ in concealment levels (both were approximately 40% concealed). He did not mention the type of predators in the area but suggested that if predators find nests by olfactory cues then visual concealment may not be important.

As the major predator in the Oxbow Woods area on Clay-colored Sparrow nests is the Franklin's ground squirrel, predation frequencies are not expected to be related to concealment because these predators use olfactory senses to locate nests and do not rely solely on sight (Boonstra et al. 1990). As host species do not benefit from a decreased predation frequency with increasing concealment a cowbird egg also would not benefit. Thus, cowbirds apparently lay in any nest regardless of concealment. Indeed, in this study, parasitism frequencies did not increase significantly with decreasing concealment values. Clay-colored Sparrows experience low levels of predation and parasitism, and build fairly well concealed nests (most fell in the range of 4-5 or 80-100% concealed). Therefore, differences in concealment among nests may not provide enough selective pressure for concealment to be used as a nest-finding cue. This cue may work better for a species with a higher frequency of parasitism, a wider range of nest substrates, variable nest concealment values or whose main nest predator is avian and therefore more likely to be affected by concealment.

Nest Height and Supporting Vegetation

Nest height is not used as a cue by predators nor by parasites to locate Claycolored Sparrows nests because outcome did not vary with nest height (Table 3). This finding is contrary to what Knapton (1978b) found for Clay-colored Sparrows. He found that pairs that nested within 10 cm above the ground suffered less predation than those that nested higher (39% versus 69%). He had many more nests less than 10 cm from the ground than I did. Most of the nests in the present study were higher than 10 cm (Table 3). This may indicate a population or habitat difference and explains why the results from the two studies differed. Buech (1982) found no differences in nest height between parasitized and non-parasitized nests for three species of *Spizella*, including the Clay-colored Sparrow, results that are similar to my study.

Several studies have shown that higher nests were parasitized more often (e.g. Dappen 1967, Fleischer 1986). Other studies have recorded opposite results (e.g. Briskie et al. 1990), whereas yet other studies have found no relationship between nest height and nest outcome (e.g. Best 1978, Smith 1981). These studies show that there is much variation with respect to the effect of nest height on predation and

parasitism frequencies. It may be that for species with only slight differences in nest height, such as Clay-colored Sparrows, height does not influence nest discovery.

Supporting vegetation also did not affect outcome. Snowberry is abundant and may decrease the chances of a predator or parasite being able to locate a Claycolored Sparrow nest as there would be too many places to search (see Martin and Roper 1988, Filliater et al. 1994). However, Clay-colored Sparrows seem to prefer snowberry (Walkinshaw 1939, Fox 1961, Salt 1966). In this study, 77% of nests were in this species of plant. Snowberry offers a high degree of nest concealment and protection from the elements and it may be chosen by Clay-colored Sparrows for this reason (Knapton 1978b, Filliater et al. 1994).

Parental Activity

None of the experimental nests was parasitized. The prediction of increased parasitism as parental activity increased was not upheld. Experimental nests were depredated regardless of parental activity level or concealment value for all but the highest level of activity (one egg per day plus model plus song), which experienced no predation. Here, too, the prediction of increased predation as parental activity increased was not upheld. Other studies have produced similar results. Laskey (1950) placed out dummy nests containing small passerine eggs but none was parasitized. Thompson and Gottfried (1976) placed out 240 nests with two quail eggs per nest. Again no parasitism was recorded. These studies indicate that nests alone are not parasitized and that activity around nests is necessary. One objection to

Thompson and Gottfried's study is their use of quail eggs, which are larger than eggs of most cowbird hosts (Payne 1973, Lowther 1979). Lowther (1979) used smaller eggs. He placed one egg per day in 33 nests to produce clutches of 2, 3 or 4 eggs. This simulated some parental activity, and two of his nests were parasitized, possibly due to the simulated parental activity. Thompson and Gottfried (1981) used smaller eggs in a second study. They placed out 25 nests with complete "clutches" on the same day and in a second set of 25 nests they introduced one egg per day. This simulated no parental activity and indirect parental activity, respectively. None of the first set of nests received a cowbird egg, whereas one nest in the second group did. These results also suggest that parental activity is necessary before cowbirds will parasitize nests.

Yahner and DeLong (1992) placed out one egg per day, simulating indirect parental activity. A total of 172 (57%) nests was disturbed by predators but none was parasitized by cowbirds. Wiley's (1988) study on Shiny Cowbirds (M. *bonariensis*) used three levels of parental activity: (1) no activity (empty nest), (2) indirect activity (one egg per day) and (3) direct activity (mounted host) to determine the importance of parental activity in locating nests. None of the empty nests was parasitized, whereas nests with eggs and those with mounted hosts near them received low levels of parasitism (<1%). Although the difference in parasitism frequencies between empty nests and nests with some level of parental activity was not significant, it suggests that parental activity may be an important cue to cowbirds when locating nests. Wiley's experiment with the host mount is similar to treatment 4 (1 egg per day plus model) of my series of experiments. No previous study has examined the level of parental activity that includes 1 egg per day plus model plus song (treatment 5). Nevertheless, no nests with this highest level of parental activity were parasitized.

In all of the studies, including the present one, parasitism on artificial nests was at a much lower frequency than on natural nests (less than 1% versus 10% or greater). One possible reason why little or no parasitism was observed on artificial nests may be that a critical level of activity or type of activity was not simulated, and before this point is reached, cowbirds will not cue in on model hosts and/or their Perhaps the presence of a living nest owner(s) and/or its movement is nests. required. This was not simulated in the above experiments. Simulation of such movements may be impossible. Blancher and Robertson (1982) found that Eastern Kingbirds (Tyrannus tyrannus) did not react aggressively to a stuffed crow model (but see Knight and Temple 1986, Bazin and Sealy 1993). They also mentioned that interactions with live predators could not be standardized. This poses a problem when using these live models. Burgham and Picman (1989) used live models in their experiments and elicited aggressive behaviours. However, they did not address the live model problem. Alternatively, the situations created may be too artificial and the cowbirds recognize them as such. Perhaps the coldness of the artificial eggs is enough to deter parasites.

Cowbirds may need to see birds going to or from their nests to pinpoint the location of nests or to ensure that they are active. Female cowbirds have frequently

been observed perched in trees presumably watching hosts carrying nesting material directly to their nest sites (Norman and Robertson 1975, Wiley 1988). Cowbirds have also been seen flying over nesting areas or flying directly to nests as soon as a host has left. These behaviours ensure that the nest location and stage are known (Wiley and Wiley 1980). Several studies have found that cowbirds occasionally lay in inactive nests suggesting that parental activity is not necessary (Thompson and Gottfried 1981, Wiley 1988, Weatherhead 1989, Sealy 1995). Cowbirds may be interpreting stealing of nesting material from an inactive nest or previous parental activity at a nest as building of an active nest and parasitize these nests inappropriately (Wiley 1988).

Few investigators have looked at predation as well as parasitism using artificial nests (but see Yahner and DeLong 1992). Predation frequencies on artificial nests (Table 5) were similar to that on natural nests (Table 2), which indicates that activity of nest owners is not as necessary for predators to locate nests. No nests in my fifth treatment, however, were depredated, which suggests song may deter predators. A more realistic reason for this finding would be that Clay-colored Sparrows rarely sing above their nest (Knapton 1978a) and if predators attempt to minimize their search effort, they should not look near a singing Clay-colored Sparrow because a nest is probably not below it. This may explain why no nests in treatment 5 were depredated.

Few workers have looked at predation in relation to parental activity simulated at artificial nests or active nests, nor have many references been made to how predators find nests. Collias and Collias (1984) stated that predators probably find

46

nests by watching birds building them but they did not cite studies to support this claim. Hammond and Forward (1965) stated that avian predators locate duck nests by observing the female's activity. It is reasonable to expect that passerine nest predators use a similar technique to locate nests.

Parental Aggression

Enemy recognition

Rothstein (1990) stated that aggression may be a general response to nest intruders and not a defense against parasites. Smith et al. (1984) found support for this in Song Sparrows. However, other studies have found that hosts recognize the parasite as a unique threat (Hobson and Sealy 1989, Duckworth 1991, Neudorf and Sealy 1992). It may be that some hosts recognize the cowbird as a specific threat and others do not (Neudorf and Sealy 1992). Nest owners have also been shown to recognize different predators. Several studies on both mammals and birds have found that responses varied with different predator models (Patterson et al. 1980, Stone and Trost 1991, Weary and Kramer 1995). Buitron (1983) found responses of Black-billed Magpies (*Pica pica*) to natural predators varied with predator type and situation.

The different responses to the female cowbird model compared to the control suggests that Clay-colored Sparrows recognize cowbirds as a specific threat. Indeed, they responded more aggressively to the cowbird model as more time was spent near the nest and they chipped more frequently (Table 8).

Clay-colored Sparrows apparently did not distinguish between different predators (Table 8), nor did they react aggressively to the predators. The sparrows only gave quiet chips to the predator models. Bent (1968) described the quiet chip or "tsip" call as a communication call. This suggests that the birds are not disturbed by the presence of the predator models. Another fact that suggests that they were not disturbed is that the birds centred their behaviours around the nest and not the model as would be expected if the model posed a real threat. Neudorf and Sealy (1992) were the first to test an avian predator, the Common Grackle, along with a female cowbird and a control. They showed that some species reacted differently toward the predator and brood parasite whereas others did not. My study is one of the few to test two different types of predators, avian and mammalian (see also Knight and Temple 1988). These tests allowed me to determine if responses varied for different predators and if predators are recognized as unique threats. Claycolored Sparrows were not highly aggressive and apparently did not recognize unique predators (Table 8). Alternatively, the sparrows may recognize them and choose not to react aggressively because they may not be able to deter them and keeping their nest location hidden may be their only recourse.

The Fox Sparrow elicited some aggression, perhaps due to its similarity in shape and size to a cowbird. The only behaviour that differed significantly among distance was quiet chipping, which suggests that the birds were not disturbed. Bent (1968) described a "tsip" call that is similar to the quiet chip. However, chipping was greatest at the closest distance indicating that the sparrows were slightly disturbed as chip calls were given as alarm calls (Walkinshaw 1944, Bent 1968). Other studies have found only low levels of aggression elicited from a variety of hosts when presented with a Fox Sparrow model (Hobson and Sealy 1989, Neudorf and Sealy 1992). Clay-colored Sparrows, therefore, may recognize a shape or size and not individual species but due to the small sample size for Fox Sparrow, it is impossible to say with certainty if they recognize cowbirds per se or simply shape and size. Neudorf et al. (unpubl. data) found that bill shape was more important than plumage colour or pattern in recognizing cowbirds. Fox Sparrows and cowbirds have similar bills, although it is slightly shorter in the former. This similarity may account for the slight aggressive responses recorded in these studies.

Robertson and Norman (1977) also tested Clay-colored Sparrows with a cowbird model and three types of sparrow models at 0.5 m from the nest. They found no significant differences in responses among the models but only tested two nests and used a subjective index (see Moran et al. 1981). Sealy et al. (1995) placed a female cowbird on the nest and found that the Clay-colored Sparrows responded aggressively and even knocked the model off the nest, in 5 of 23 trials. Their study demonstrates that Clay-colored Sparrows can be aggressive but they may respond aggressively only to threats right at the nest (see also Neudorf and Sealy 1994, Sealy et al. 1995). They may not react until the threat is at or on the nest so that their behaviour does not reveal the position of their well-concealed nests.

Distance testing

Parental aggression generally has been assumed to deter predators (Blancher and Robertson 1982, Buitron 1983). However, several workers have suggested that parental aggression may be used by both predators and parasites to locate nests (Smith 1981, Smith et al. 1984, Hobson et al. 1988). McLean et al. (1986) found that alarm vocalizations attracted avian predators. Wiley (1988) found that cowbirds were attracted to areas where residents aggressively defended against intruders. These behaviours seem to be "maladaptive" unless they indeed deter parasites and predators, and the nest owners benefit by this behaviour (Smith et al. 1984).

Parental aggression in response to a female cowbird model at three distances was used to test the likelihood that the nest-cue hypothesis is plausible. Clay-colored Sparrows responded but not aggressively at all three distances, which reveals that in theory the nest-cue hypothesis is plausible. Aggressive behaviours were observed infrequently and were not exhibited by all individuals, therefore, aggression probably cannot be used by cowbirds as a reliable cue. However, for those individuals that exhibit aggressive behaviour, cowbirds may be able to cue in on them opportunistically. Cowbirds may be able to gauge the distance between themselves and the host, the number of perch changes made by hosts, and the frequency of chip calls as cues to the presence of a nest. Clay-colored Sparrows, in general, spent more time closer to the model, changed perches and chipped more frequently when the model was closest to the nest. There was also a gradation in responses for time intervals spent greater than 2 m from the model, frequency of perch changes and frequency of chip calls, which increased in frequency as the distance from the nest decreased. Chip calls reveal that adults were disturbed and may indicate aggression. These three behaviours may be used by cowbirds to locate nests. For most of the responses, the two closest distances seem to be similar and the responses more frequent than the third and farthest distance. This may indicate a threshold distance, where the adults ignore the model cowbird (intruders) until a certain distance (somewhere between 2.5 and 4.5 m) and then respond as the threat increases (intruder closer to nest).

Clay-colored Sparrows did not react aggressively toward the two predator models. The responses that were significant were not aggressive behaviours and therefore parental aggression is not used as a cue by predators to locate Clay-colored Sparrow nests. The quiet chip was given frequently and seems to be given most often when the birds are foraging or communicating with one another (pers. obs.). This suggests that the birds were not disturbed. The prediction of increased aggression as the predator model was placed nearer to the nest was not supported for either type of predator. Clay-colored Sparrows build well-concealed nests and in order not to draw attention to the nest may not respond aggressively towards predators, thus eliminating this as a nest-finding cue or perhaps they cannot deter predators (Knight et al. 1985, Sealy 1994). The quiet chip for the ground squirrel model increased in frequency as the model distance increased. This may be a positive response, in that the communication chip may indicate that a predator is near and increase in frequency as the predator moves farther away. The apparent lack of response may be the best strategy for Clay-colored Sparrows because even at half a meter (the closest distance tested) the well-concealed nest may have not been discovered and to respond aggressively would reveal its exact position. The aggressive responses at the nest recorded by Sealy et al. (1995) may be the last attempt to drive the predator away as the nest has now certainly been found.

Model testing at different distances from the nest has only been done in one other study (Gill, S.A., P.M. Grieef and S.G. Sealy unpubl. data). Their results showed that for four different species responses vary with distance. This is important when looking at nest success with respect to cowbird and predator models because conclusions about nest-finding cues and behaviours that attract predators and parasites (McLean et al. 1986) may vary depending on testing distance.

None of the five cues (parental activity, parental aggression, nest concealment, nest height, or supporting vegetation) examined in this study was used by parasites or predators to locate Clay-colored Sparrow nests. These cues may work to varying degrees, either alone or in combination, for other species or in combination for this species. Nest finding is probably species-specific, with nests of some species being found more readily. The question, therefore, still remains: what specific cues do parasites and predators use to find Clay-colored Sparrow nests?

SUMMARY

- Very low frequencies of predation and parasitism (10.7% and 11.6%, respectively) were recorded for the first 8 days of the nesting cycle. There was a 77.7% success frequency.
- 67% of nests were highly concealed with values between 80 and 100% concealed. Nest concealment did not affect nesting outcome and is probably not used as a cue to locate Clay-colored Sparrow nests.
- 3. 41% of nests were built between the heights of 101 and 200 mm. Nest height did not affect nesting outcome and is probably not used as a cue to locate Clay-colored Sparrow nests.
- 77% of nests were built in snowberry. Supporting vegetation did not affect nesting outcome and is probably not used as a cue to locate Clay-colored Sparrow nests.
- 5. Simulated parental activity did not elicit parasitism. Predation occurred but did not vary with increasing parental activity. The parental activities simulated in this study did not elicit cowbird egg-laying or increased levels of predation and were probably not used to locate Clay-colored Sparrow nests.
- 6. Clay-colored Sparrows recognized cowbirds models as unique threats and may recognize predator models as such.
- 7. Parental aggression cannot be used as a cue to locate Clay-colored Sparrow nests as little aggression was elicited by the four models.

53

LITERATURE CITED

Anderson, W.L. and R.W. Storer. 1976. Factors influencing Kirtland's Warbler nesting success. Jack-Pine Warbler 54:105-115.

Andersson, M. 1981. On optimal predator search. Theor. Pop. Biol. 19:58-86.

- Ankney, C.D. and D.M. Scott. 1980. Changes in nutrient reserves and diet of breeding Brown-headed Cowbirds. Auk 97:684-696.
- Arcese, P. and J.N.M. Smith. 1988. Effects of population density and supplemental food on reproduction in Song Sparrows. J. Anim. Ecol. 57:119-136.
- Bazin, R.C. and S.G. Sealy. 1993. Experiments on the responses of a rejector species to threats of predation and cowbird parasitism. Ethology 94:326-338.
- Bell, W.J. 1991. Searching behaviour: the behavioural ecology of finding resources. Chapman and Hall, London, England. pp. 358.
- Benhamou, S. 1992. Efficiency of area concentrated searching behaviour in a continuous patchy environment. J. Theor. Biol. 159:67-81.
- Bent, A.C. 1968. Life histories of North American cardinals, grosbeaks, buntings, towhees, finches, sparrows and allies. Dover Publications, Inc., New York. pp. 1889.
- Best, L.B. 1978. Field Sparrow reproductive success and nesting ecology. Auk 95:9-22.
- Best, L.B. and D.F. Stauffer. 1980. Factors affecting nesting success in riparian bird communities. Condor 82:149-158.
- Blancher, P.J. and R.J. Robertson. 1982. Kingbird aggression: does it deter predation? Anim. Behav. 30:929-930.
- Boonstra, R., C.J. Krebs and M. Kanter. 1990. Arctic ground squirrel predation on collared lemmings. Can. J. Zool. 68:757-760.
- Briskie, J.V., S.G. Sealy and K.A. Hobson. 1990. Differential parasitism of Least Flycatchers and Yellow Warblers by the Brown-headed Cowbird. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 27:403-410.

- Brown, P.W. and L.H. Fredrickson. 1989. White-winged Scoter, *Melanitta fusca*, populations and nesting on Redberry Lake, Saskatchewan. Can. Field-Nat. 103:240-247.
- Buech, R.R. 1982. Nesting ecology and cowbird parasitism of Clay-colored, Chipping, and Field sparrows in a Christmas tree plantation. J. Field Ornithol. 53:363-369.
- Buitron, D. 1983. Variability in the responses of Black-billed Magpies to natural predators. Behaviour 87:209-236.
- Burgham, M.C.J. 1985. The impact of brood parasitism by the Brown-headed Cowbird on the reproductive tactics of the Yellow Warbler. M.Sc. thesis, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON. pp. 110.
- Burgham, M.C.J. and J. Picman. 1989. Effect of Brown-headed Cowbirds on the evolution of Yellow Warbler anti-parasite strategies. Anim. Behav. 38:298-308.
- Carey, M. 1982. An analysis of factors governing pair-bonding period and the onset of laying in Indigo Buntings. J. Field Ornithol. 53:240-248.
- Carlson, A. 1985. Prey detection in the Red-backed Shrike (Lanius collurio): an experimental study. Anim. Behav. 33:1243-1249.
- Carter, M.D. 1986. The parasitic behaviour of the Bronzed Cowbird in south Texas. Condor 88:11-25.
- Clark, R.G. and T.D. Nudds. 1991. Habitat patch size and duck nesting success: the crucial experiments have not been performed. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 19:534-543.
- Collias, N.E. and E.C. Collias. 1984. Nest building and bird behaviour. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ. pp. 336.
- Colwell, M.A. 1992. Wilson's Phalarope nest success is not influenced by vegetation concealment. Condor 94:767-772.
- Conover, W.J. 1980. Practical nonparametric statistics. Second edition. John Wiley and Sons, Toronto, ON. pp. 495.
- Conover, W.J. and R.L. Iman. 1981. Rank transformations as a bridge between parametric and nonparametric statistics. Amer. Statistician 35:124-133.

- Dappen, G.E. 1967. Frequency of parasitism by Brown-headed Cowbirds of Redwinged Blackbird nests in Lancaster County, Nebraska. Nebraska Bird Rev. 35:52-56.
- Duckworth, J.W. 1991. Responses of breeding Reed Warblers Acrocephalus scirpaceus to mounts of Sparrowhawk Accipiter nisus, Cuckoo Cuculus canorus and Jay Garrulus glandarius. Ibis 133:68-74.
- Elliott, P.F. 1977. Adaptive significance of cowbird egg distribution. Auk 94:590-593.
- Elliott, P.F. 1978. Cowbird parasitism in the Kansas tallgrass prairie. Auk 95:161-167.
- Evans, J. 1972. Delta Marsh vegetation map. Univ. Man. Field Station (Delta).
- Filliater, T.S., R. Breitwisch and P.M. Nealen. 1994. Predation on Northern Cardinal nests: does choice of nest site matter? Condor 96:761-768.
- Fleischer, R.C. 1986. Brood parasitism by Brown-headed Cowbirds in a simple host community in eastern Kansas. Kan. Ornith. Soc. Bull. 37:21-29.
- Fox, G.A. 1961. A contribution to the life history of the Clay-colored Sparrow. Auk 78:220-224.
- Friedmann, H. 1929. The cowbirds: a study in the biology of social parasitism. Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, IL. pp. 421.
- Friedmann, H., L.F. Kiff and S.I. Rothstein. 1977. A further contribution to knowledge of the host relations of the parasitic cowbirds. Smithson. Contr. Zool. No. 235.
- Gamble, R.L. 1980. The ecology and distribution of *Mustela frenata longicauda* Bonaparte and its relationships to other *Mustela* spp. in sympatry. M.Sc. Thesis, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB. pp.165.
- Gates, J.E. and L.W. Gysel. 1978. Avian nest dispersion and fledging success in field-forest ecotones. Ecology 59:871-883.
- Gill, B.J. 1983. Brood-parasitism by the Shining Cuckoo Chrysococcyx lucidus at Kaikoura, New Zealand. Ibis 125:40-55.
- Gochfeld, M. 1979. Brood parasite and host coevolution: interactions between Shiny Cowbirds and two species of meadowlarks. Am. Nat. 113:855-870.

- Gottfried, B.M. and C.F. Thompson. 1978. Experimental analysis of nest predation in an old-field habitat. Auk 95:304-312.
- Greig-Smith, P.W. 1980. Parental investment in nest defence by Stonechats (Saxicola torquata). Anim. Behav. 28:604-619.
- Greig-Smith, P.W. 1982. Song-rates and parental care by individual male Stonechats (Saxicola torquata). Anim. Behav. 30:245-252.
- Hammond, M.C. and W.R. Forward. 1956. Experiments on causes of duck nest predation. J. Wildl. Manage. 20:243-247.
- Hann, H.W. 1941. The cowbird at the nest. Wilson Bull. 53:211-221.
- Hill, D.P. 1992. An experimental study of nest desertion by the Clay-colored Sparrow (*Spizella pallida*) in response to cowbird parasitism. M.Sc. thesis, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB. pp. 51.
- Hill, D.P. and S.G. Sealy. 1994. Desertion of nests parasitized by cowbirds: have Clay-coloured Sparrows evolved an anti-parasite defence? Anim. Behav. 48:1063-1070.
- Hill, R.A. 1976. Host-parasite relationships of the Brown-headed Cowbird in a prairie habitat of west-central Kansas. Wilson Bull. 88:555-565.
- Hobson, K.A. and S.G. Sealy. 1989. Responses of Yellow Warblers to the threat of cowbird parasitism. Anim. Behav. 38:510-519.
- Hobson, K.A., M.L. Bouchart and S.G. Sealy. 1988. Responses of naive Yellow Warblers to a novel nest predator. Anim. Behav. 36:1823-1830.
- Holway, D.A. 1991. Nest-site selection and the importance of nest concealment in the Black-throated Blue Warbler. Condor 93:575-581.
- Howard, W.E., R.E. Marsh and R.E. Cole. 1968. Food detection by deer mice using olfactory rather than visual cues. Anim. Behav. 16:13-17.
- Jennings, T.J. 1976. Seed detection by the wood mouse *Apodemus sylvaticus*. Oikos 27:174-177.
- Knapton, R.W. 1978. Behavioural ecology of the Clay-colored Sparrow, Spizella pallida. Ph.D. thesis, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB. pp. 221.

- Knapton, R.W. 1978. Breeding ecology of the Clay-colored Sparrow. Living Bird 17:137-158.
- Knapton, R.W. 1979. Optimal size of territory in the Clay-colored Sparrow, Spizella pallida. Can. J. Zool. 57:1358-1370.
- Knight, R.L. and S.A. Temple. 1986. Methodological problems in studies of avian nest defence. Anim. Behav. 34:561-566.
- Knight, R.L. and S.A. Temple. 1988. Nest-defense behaviour in the Red-winged Blackbird. Condor 90:193-200.
- Knight, R.L., S. Kim and S.A. Temple. 1985. Predation of Red-winged Blackbird nests by mink. Condor 87:304-305.
- Krebs, J.R. and R.J. Cowie. 1976. Foraging strategies in birds. Ardea 64:98-116.
- Krebs, J.R. and R.H. McCleery. 1984. Optimization in behavioural ecology. p. 91-121. <u>In</u> J.R. Krebs and N.B. Davies (eds.). Behavioural ecology: an evolutionary approach. Second edition. Sinauer Associates Inc., Sunderland, MA. pp. 493.
- Laskey, A.R. 1950. Cowbird behaviour. Wilson Bull. 62:157-174.
- Linz, G.M. and S.G. Bolin. 1982. Incidence of Brown-headed Cowbird parasitism on Red-winged Blackbirds. Wilson Bull. 94:93-95.
- Lowther, P.E. 1979. Nest selection by Brown-headed Cowbirds. Wilson Bull. 91:118-122.
- Lowther, P.E. 1984. Cowbird nest selection. Wilson Bull. 96:103-107.
- Major, R.E. 1991. Identification of nest predators by photography, dummy eggs, and adhesive tape. Auk 108:190-195.
- Martin, T.E. 1992a. Breeding productivity considerations: What are the appropriate habitat features for management. <u>In</u> J.M. Hagan and D.W. Johnston (eds.). Ecology and conservation of neotropical migrants. Smithsonian Institute Press, Washington, D.C. pp. 455-473.
- Martin, T.E. 1992b. Interaction of nest predation and food limitation in reproductive strategies. Curr. Ornithol. 9:163-197.

- Martin, T.E. and J.J. Roper. 1988. Nest predation and nest-site selection of a western population of the Hermit Thrush. Condor 90:51-57.
- Mayfield, H. 1965. Chance distribution of cowbird eggs. Condor 67:257-263.
- McGeen, D.S. 1971. Factors affecting cowbird success with Yellow Warbler and Song Sparrow hosts. Jack-Pine Warbler 49:53-57.
- McLean, I.G., J.N.M. Smith and K.G. Stewart. 1986. Mobbing behaviour, nest exposure, and breeding success in the American Robin. Behaviour 96:171-186.
- Middleton, A.L.A. 1977. Effect of cowbird parasitism on American Goldfinch nesting. Auk 94:304-307.
- Middleton, A.L.A. 1991. Failure of Brown-headed Cowbird parasitism in nests of the American Goldfinch. J. Field Ornithol. 62:200-203.
- Moran, G., J.C. Fentress and I. Golani. 1981. A description of relational patterns of movement during ritualized fighting in wolves. Anim. Behav. 29:1146-1165.
- Murphy, M.T. 1983. Nest success and nesting habits of Eastern Kingbirds and other flycatchers. Condor 85:208-219.
- Neudorf, D.L. 1991. Nest defense in four host species of the Brown-headed Cowbird (*Molothrus ater*). M.Sc. thesis, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB. pp. 92.
- Neudorf, D.L. and S.G. Sealy. 1992. Reactions of four passerine species to threats of predation and cowbird parasitism: enemy recognition or generalized responses? Behaviour 123:84-105.
- Neudorf, D.L. and S.G. Sealy. 1994. Sunrise attentiveness in cowbird hosts. Condor 96:162-169.
- Neudorf, D.L., S.A. Gill and S.G. Sealy. (unpubl.) Are male cowbirds recognized as threats to nests? Experiments on two common host species. Anim. Behav.
- Nice, M.M. 1937. Studies of the life history of the Song Sparrow. Vol.I. A population study of the Song Sparrow and other passerines. Trans. Linn. Soc. NY 4:1-246.
- Nolan, V., Jr. 1978. The ecology and behavior of the Prairie Warbler Dendroica discolor. Ornithol. Monogr. no. 26. pp. 595.

- Norman, R.F. and R.J. Robertson. 1975. Nest-searching behaviour in the Brownheaded Cowbird. Auk 92:610-611.
- Norment, C.J. 1993. Nest-site characteristics and nest predation in Harris' Sparrow and White-crowned Sparrows in the Northwest Territories, Canada. Auk 110:769-777.
- Orians, G.H., E. Røskaft and L.D. Beletsky. 1989. Do Brown-headed Cowbirds lay their eggs at random in the nests of Red-winged Blackbirds? Wilson Bull. 101:599-605.
- Ortega, C.P., J.C. Ortega and A. Cruz. 1994. Use of artificial Brown-headed Cowbird eggs as a potential management tool in deterring parasitism. J. Wildl. Manage. 58:488-492.
- Patterson, T.L., L. Petrinovich and D.K. James. 1980. Reproductive value and appropriateness of response to predators by White-crowned Sparrows. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 7:227-231.
- Payne, R.B. 1973. The breeding season of a parasitic bird, the Brown-headed Cowbird, in central California. Condor 75:80-99.
- Payne, R.B. 1977. The ecology of brood parasitism in birds. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 8:1-28.
- Petit, L.J. 1991. Adaptive tolerance of cowbird parasitism by Prothonotary Warblers: a consequence of nest-site limitation. Anim. Behav. 41:425-432.
- Prescott, K.W. 1965. The Scarlet Tanager. Studies in the life history of the Scarlet Tanager, *Piranga olivacea*. Invest. No. 2. New Jersey State Museum, Trenton, NJ. pp. 159.
- Preston, F.W. 1948. The cowbird (*M. ater*) and the cuckoo (*C. canorus*). Ecology 29:115-116.
- Pyke, G.H. 1984. Optimal foraging theory: a critical review. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 15:523-575.
- Reid, M.L. and S.G. Sealy. 1986. Behaviour of a polygynous yearling Yellow Warbler. Wilson Bull. 98:315-317.
- Ricklefs, R.E. 1969. An analysis of nesting mortality in birds. Smithson. Contr. Zool. 9:1-48.

- Robertson, R.J. and R.F. Norman. 1976. Behavioral defenses to brood parasitism by potential hosts of the Brown-headed Cowbird. Condor 78:166-173.
- Robertson, R.J. and R.F. Norman. 1977. The function and evolution of aggressive host behaviour towards the Brown-headed Cowbird (*Molothrus ater*). Can. J. Zool. 55:508-518.
- Röell, A. and I. Bossema. 1982. A comparison of nest defence by Jackdaws, Rooks, Magpies and Crows. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 11:1-6.
- Rothstein, S.I. 1975. An experimental and teleonomic investigation of avian brood parasitism. Condor 77:250-271.
- Rothstein, S.I. 1990. A model system for coevolution: avian brood parasitism. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 21:481-508.
- Rothstein, S.I., J. Verner and E. Stevens. 1984. Radio-tracking confirms a unique diurnal pattern of spatial occurrence in the parasitic Brown-headed Cowbird. Ecology 65:77-88.
- Salt, W.R. 1966. A nesting study of Spizella pallida. Auk 83:247-281.
- Sargeant, A.B., M.A. Sovada and R.J. Greenwood. 1987. Responses of three prairie ground squirrel species, *Spermophilus franklinii*, *S. richardsonii*, and *S. tridecemlineatus*, to duck eggs. Can. Field-Nat. 101:95-97.
- Scott, D.M. 1991. The time of day of egg laying by the Brown-headed Cowbird and other icterines. Can. J. Zool. 69:2093-2099.
- Sealy, S.G. 1992. Removal of Yellow Warbler eggs in association with cowbird parasitism. Condor 94:40-54.
- Sealy, S.G. 1994. Observed acts of egg destruction, egg removal, and predation on nests of passerine birds at Delta Marsh, Manitoba. Can. Field-Nat. 108:41-51.
- Sealy, S.G. 1995. Burial of cowbird eggs by parasitized Yellow Warblers: an empirical and experimental study. Anim. Behav. 49:877-889.
- Sealy, S.G., D.L. Neudorf and D.P. Hill. 1995. Rapid laying by Brown-headed Cowbirds *Molothrus ater* and other parasitic birds. Ibis 137: 76-84.
- Searcy, W.A. 1979. Female choice of mates: a general model for birds and its application to Red-winged Blackbirds (Agelaius phoeniceus). Am. Nat. 114:77-100.

Slack, R.D. 1976. Nest guarding behavior by male Gray Catbirds. Auk 93:292-300.

- Smith, J.N.M. 1974. The food searching behaviour of two European thrushes. I. Description and analysis of search paths. Behaviour 48:276-302.
- Smith, J.N.M. 1981. Cowbird parasitism, host fitness, and age of the host female in an island Song Sparrow population. Condor 83:152-161.
- Smith, J.N.M., P. Arcese and I.G. McLean. 1984. Age, experience, and enemy recognition by wild Song Sparrows. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 14:101-106.
- Sowls, L.K. 1948. The Franklin ground squirrel, *Citellus franklinii* (Sabine), and its relationship to nesting ducks. J. Mammalogy 29:113-137.
- Stone, E. and C.H. Trost. 1991. Predators, risks and context for mobbing and alarm calls in Black-billed Magpies. Anim. Behav. 41:633-638.
- Sugden, L.G. 1987. Effect of disruptive background on predation of artificial nests by American Crows. Prairie Nat. 19:149-152.
- Thompson, C.F. and B.M. Gottfried. 1976. How do cowbirds find and select nests to parasitize? Wilson Bull. 88:673-675.
- Thompson, C.F. and B.M. Gottfried. 1981. Nest discovery and selection by Brownheaded Cowbirds. Condor 83:268-269.
- Viitala, J., E. Korpimäki, P. Palokangas and M. Koivula. 1995. Attraction of kestrels to vole scent marks visible in ultraviolet light. Nature 373:425-427.
- Walkinshaw, L.H. 1939. Notes on the nesting of the Clay-colored Sparrow. Wilson Bull. 51:17-22.
- Walkinshaw, L.H. 1944. Clay-colored Sparrow notes. Jack-Pine Warbler 22:120-131.
- Weary, D.M. and D.L. Kramer. 1995. Response of eastern chipmunks to conspecific alarm calls. Anim. Behav. 49:81-93.
- Weatherhead, P.J. 1989. Sex ratios, host-specific reproductive success, and impact of Brown-headed Cowbirds. Auk 106:358-366.
- Wiley, J.W. 1982. Ecology of avian brood parasitism at an early interfacing of host and parasite populations. Ph.D. thesis, University of Miami, FL. pp. 257.

Wiley, J.W. 1988. Host selection by the Shiny Cowbird. Condor 90:289-303.

- Wiley, R.H. and M.S. Wiley. 1980. Spacing and timing in the nesting ecology of a tropical blackbird: comparison of populations in different environments. Ecol. Monogr. 50:153-178.
- Wray, T., II and R.C. Whitmore. 1979. Effects of vegetation on nesting success of Vesper Sparrows. Auk 96:802-805.
- Wyllie, I. 1981. The cuckoo. Universe Books, New York, NY. pp.176.
- Yahner, R.H. and C.A. DeLong. 1992. Avian predation and parasitism on artificial nests and eggs in two fragmented landscapes. Wilson Bull. 104:162-168.
- Young, J.Z. 1957. The life of mammals. Oxford University Press, New York, NY. pp. 820.
- Zach, R. and J.N.M. Smith. 1981. Optimal foraging in wild birds? p.95-109. In A.C. Kamil and T.D. Sargent (eds.). Foraging behavior: ecological, ethological, and psychological approaches. Garland STPM Press, New York, NY. pp. 534.
- Zar, J.H. 1984. Biostatistical analysis. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, NJ. pp. 717.